RECEIVED 07-08-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

## STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2018AP858-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

BRIAN L. HALVERSON,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS REVERSING ORDERS ENTERED IN CHIPPEWA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE STEVEN R. CRAY, PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 261-8118 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) burgundysl@doj.state.wi.us

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Under United States Supreme Court law, whether a suspect is in custody for purposes of *Miranda* and the Fifth Amendment requires a totality-of-the-circumstances analysis that considers the coercive pressures (or lack thereof) present during the questioning. That test applies to all suspects, including those who are already incarcerated.1

Does the totality-of-the-circumstances test leave an inmate's right against compelled self-incrimination vulnerable that this Court must find expanded protections in the Wisconsin Constitution to hold that imprisonment is always custody for *Miranda* purposes?

The circuit court did not answer this question.

The court of appeals held that there was no basis to read expanded protections into the Wisconsin Constitution to preserve the per se rule of custody.

This Court should affirm the court of appeals.

2. Was Brian Halverson, an inmate at Vernon County jail on a probation hold, in custody for Miranda purposes when he returned a phone call from a police officer and, during the three-to-four-minute conversation during which there was no evidence that Halverson was pressured to make or continue the call, confirmed that he had committed misdemeanors?

The circuit court did not answer this question.

The court of appeals held that Halverson was not in custody for *Miranda* purposes.

This Court should affirm the court of appeals.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Howes v. Fields, 565 U.S. 499 (2012).

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This Court typically publishes its opinions and holds oral argument. Both are appropriate in this case.

#### INTRODUCTION

When Halverson was an inmate at Vernon County jail, he returned a telephone call from an officer who was investigating allegations that Halverson had committed crimes unrelated to his jail custody. During the three-to-four-minute call, Halverson admitted committing the crimes.

Halverson sought suppression of his statements from the phone call because the officer never provided *Miranda* warnings. The circuit court granted Halverson's motion, holding that Halverson, as a jail inmate, was per se in custody for *Miranda* purposes during the phone call. The court based its decision on *State v. Armstrong*, 223 Wis. 2d 331, 588 N.W.2d 606 (1999), which had interpreted federal Fifth Amendment law to hold that inmates are per se in custody for *Miranda* purposes.

The court of appeals reversed in a published decision. It agreed with the parties that *Armstrong* was overruled by *Howes v. Fields*, 565 U.S. 499 (2012), in which the Supreme Court held that jail and prison inmates are not per se in custody for *Miranda* purposes but instead are subject to the same totality-of-the-circumstances analysis as any other suspect. It declined Halverson's invitation to identify expanded protections in the Wisconsin Constitution to preserve the *Armstrong* rule. Finally, applying the totality-of-the-circumstances analysis, the court of appeals held that Halverson was not in custody for *Miranda* purposes during the phone call.

This Court should affirm the court of appeals. Fields overruled *Armstrong*, and there is no basis to find expanded protections under the Wisconsin Constitution to preserve that per se rule. Further, Halverson was not in custody for Miranda purposes when, based on the evidence presented, he agreed to return the officer's phone call, he was provided a private room to make the call, and was at no point subjected to the types of coercive pressures or reduced freedom of movement that he would not normally experience as an inmate.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

E.M., an inmate at Stanley Correctional Institution, claimed that another inmate, Halverson, had stolen and destroyed documents and other items that belonged to him. (R. 1:1–2.) E.M. contacted Matthew Danielson, an officer from the Stanley police department, about the theft. During that discussion, E.M. showed Danielson two letters written by Halverson in which Halverson admitted to the theft and destruction of E.M.'s property. (R. 1:2.)

At that point, Halverson was no longer an inmate at Stanley; Danielson found him housed in the Vernon County jail, where he was serving a 30-day hold beginning September 12, 2016, for violations of his extended supervision. (R. 1:2; 41:3.) On September 27, 2016, Danielson followed up with Halverson over a phone call to that jail, during which Halverson admitted committing the crimes. (R. 1:2.) The State charged Halverson with misdemeanor counts of criminal damage to property and theft, both as a repeater. (R. 1:1.)

Halverson filed a motion to suppress his statements to Danielson, arguing that Danielson questioned him without informing him of his *Miranda* rights. (R. 18:1–2.)

Page 10 of 39

There were two hearings on the motion. At the first hearing, the State presented testimony from Danielson regarding his call with Halverson. (R. 51:3-20.) Danielson testified that the call occurred shortly after 10 a.m. on September 27, 2016, when jail staff returned Danielson's call on Halverson's behalf. (R. 51:4–5.) During the conversation, Danielson introduced himself, explained why he was calling, and asked if Halverson was familiar with an incident in which E.M. had some documents that went missing. (R. 51:5.) Halverson "knew of" the incident, stated that he had helped E.M. clean his cell, and said that "maybe the documents just happened to go in the garbage." (R. 51:5.)

Danielson then brought up the two letters in which Halverson had admitted "to the theft and destruction of those documents," and Halverson admitted to destroying E.M.'s documents. (R. 51:5-6.) At that point, Halverson "became upset and made reference to the offenses that [E.M.] was incarcerated for" as seeming justification. (R. 51:6.) Danielson thanked Halverson and ended the call. (R. 51:7.) The call lasted three or four minutes. (R. 51:6.)

Danielson acknowledged that he did not provide Miranda warnings to Halverson because he "didn't think of [Halverson as] being in custody. He was speaking to me freely on the phone. Yes, he was in custody somewhere else for something else, but he wasn't in custody with me." (R. 51:8.) Danielson testified his tone of voice during the call "was the same as it is now"; he did not scream at, threaten, or promise anything to Halverson. (R. 51:6-7.) To that end, Danielson heard no background noise or anyone else speaking to—let alone yelling at or threatening—Halverson. (R. 51:7.) Nor, according to Danielson, did Halverson sound tired or ever refuse to talk. (R. 51:6–7.)

The court made an initial ruling at that hearing, holding that under Armstrong, 223 Wis. 2d 331, and Schimmel v. State, 84 Wis. 2d 287, 267 N.W.2d 271 (1978), overruled on other grounds by Steele v. State, 97 Wis. 2d. 72, 294 N.W.2d 2 (1980), Halverson was per se in Miranda custody due to his incarceration. (R. 51:22–24.) It further concluded that Fields did not change the per se rule in Armstrong and Schimmel. (R. 51:24–26.) Because one of the State's planned witnesses that day was unavailable, however, the court told the State that it could file a motion for reconsideration and present additional testimony on the matter. (R. 51:26–27.)

The State filed a motion for reconsideration (R. 38), which led to the second hearing, at which Matthew Hoff, a corporal with the Vernon County Sheriff's Department, testified. Hoff was on duty at the Vernon County jail on September 27, 2016. (R. 48:14.) According to Hoff, jail inmates "receive calls occasionally" from "probation agents, attorneys, judges in some cases, and also law enforcement." (R. 48:14.) Although Hoff did not personally recall the details of Halverson's call, he also agreed that "[t]here was nothing unusual" that occurred that day with regard to a phone call.<sup>2</sup> (R. 48:15, 22.)

Hoff further explained the standard procedure for inmate calls. When jail staff received a call for an inmate, they either put the person on hold or—as occurred here—arranged to call the person back. (R. 48:15–16.) Jail staff would then find the inmate in his pod, inform him of the call, and identify the caller. (R. 48:15–17.) If the inmate agreed to talk to the caller, the staff would walk the inmate a short distance—about 75 feet—to the jail's program room, dial the caller, hand

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The hearings on the motion occurred October 23, 2017, and February 28, 2018, 13 and 17 months after the phone call between Danielson and Halverson. (R. 48; 51.)

the inmate the phone, and leave him alone in the room with a closed, locked door to take the call. (R. 48:15–16, 18, 22.)

Hoff estimated that the program room is about 15 by 25 feet and stated that it functions as the jail library. (R. 48:18.) The room is carpeted and has video equipment to accommodate remote court appearances. (R. 48:18.) The room otherwise had tables, chairs, and a phone with an unrecorded line. (R. 48:18.) Hoff explained while inmates have use of that and other program rooms, jail staff must escort them to and from those rooms. (R. 48:20.)

The officer then will watch the inmate through observation glass to "make sure they're still on the phone, [and] not touching any of the video equipment." (R. 48:19.) Then, when the officer sees the inmate hang up, the officer opens the door and escorts the inmate back to his pod. (R. 48:19-20.)

During this whole procedure, staff do not handcuff the inmate or shackle him. (R. 48:10.) Nor do staff force the inmate to go to the program room or to take or return the call: "[a]t any time the inmate can tell us he doesn't want to talk to whatever individual is on the other line because we're not going to force them to speak with somebody." (R. 48:18–19.) Hoff explained, "I'm not going to drag somebody out of the pod down to the program room to talk to somebody they don't want to talk to." (R. 48:19.)

After hearing additional argument, the court found Hoff's explanation of the standard procedure credible, stating, "I certainly believe that the officer that testified [Hoff] knows what he's talking about." (R. 48:34.) Nevertheless, it denied the motion for reconsideration, reiterating that under Armstrong and Schimmel, a person is per se in Miranda custody when he is incarcerated:

I am not convinced that our supreme court is necessarily going to go along with [Fields]. They set up a bright line when the U.S. Supreme Court did not. so that there is some window there. They made their decision, and it's been almost a generation of wellsettled law.

I see nothing compelling in this case that would convince me to overturn the Wisconsin Supreme Court's decision enunciated in Schimmel and reaffirmed in [Armstrong], and apparently Schimmel has been viewed with a smiley face, so to speak, recently.

(R. 48:34.)<sup>3</sup> The court went on to hold that based on the per se rule, Halverson "was definitely in custody" and "was definitely interrogated" and thus, ordered suppression. (R. 48:35.)

The court memorialized those decisions in written orders (R. 43; 44), from which the State initiated a one-judge appeal (R. 46). On appeal, the parties agreed that the circuit court erred in holding that Armstrong remained good law in light of *Fields*. Halverson urged the court of appeals to hold that the per se rule in Armstrong should be preserved under the Wisconsin Constitution. Alternatively, Halverson insisted that he was nevertheless in custody for *Miranda* purposes under the totality of the circumstances. The State disagreed that the Wisconsin Constitution supported a per se rule and argued that Halverson was not in custody for purposes of *Miranda* under the totality of the circumstances.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The court's "smiley face" remark appeared to reference an erroneous statement by Halverson's counsel that language in Bartelt reaffirmed the rule in Schimmel. (R. 48:30.) State v. Bartelt, 2018 WI 16, 379 Wis. 2d 588, 906 N.W.2d 684. The language counsel appeared to be referencing was in Armstrong, 223 Wis. 2d 331. Neither Bartelt nor any other Wisconsin decision within the last 20 years mentions *Schimmel* or its per se rule.

After the parties submitted briefs, the court of appeals converted the case to a three-judge appeal and ordered supplemental briefing from the attorney general. After receiving supplemental briefing, the court of appeals reversed the circuit court's decision in a published opinion. *State v. Halverson*, 2019 WI App 66, 389 Wis. 2d 554, 937 N.W.2d 74 (Pet.-App. 101–127).

To start, the court of appeals agreed with the parties that the Supreme Court's decision in Fields conflicted with and therefore overruled Armstrong's per se rule, which relied exclusively on Fifth Amendment law. Id. ¶ 34. It also declined expanded protections under the Constitution to preserve Armstrong's rule. Id. ¶ 47. It noted that Halverson's state constitutional argument was "largely conclusory" and lacked any sort of comparative analysis between the protections offered under the federal and state constitutions. Id. ¶ 43. It likewise distinguished the sole case upon which Halverson relied in his request to preserve the per se rule. Id. 44. Finally, it rejected Halverson's insistence that the "inherently compelling pressures" of life in confinement justified preserving the per se rule, noting that Halverson failed to explain how the totality-of-thecircumstances test in *Fields* did not provide inmates adequate protection. Id. ¶ 45.

It also held, in applying the totality-of-the-circumstances test, that Halverson was not in custody for *Miranda* purposes when he returned Danielson's call. *Id.* ¶ 60. It reached that conclusion because the call was brief, Danielson never raised his voice or threatened Halverson, Halverson never indicated that he wanted to end the call, and Halverson was not restrained or threatened by jail staff. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See State v. Knapp, 2005 WI 127, 285 Wis. 2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 899 (Knapp II).

It further observed that Halverson retained his ability to choose whether to return Danielson's call, to continue the call, and to hang up the phone at any point in the conversation. *Id*.  $\P$  61. While Danielson failed to tell Halverson that he could end the discussion at any time, that fact weighed less significantly toward a determination of custody given that questioning over the phone "tends to make the interrogation less likely to be custodial." *Id.* ¶ 63.

Accordingly, the court of appeals reversed the decision of the circuit court and remanded for further proceedings. *Id.* ¶ 66. Halverson then petitioned for review, and this Court granted his petition.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The interpretation of the Wisconsin Constitution and its application to undisputed facts is a question of law that this Court reviews independently. See State v. Williams, 2012 WI 59, ¶ 10, 341 Wis. 2d 191, 814 N.W.2d 460.

Whether evidence should be suppressed due to an alleged *Miranda* violation is a question of constitutional fact. State v. Knapp, 2005 WI 127, ¶ 19, 285 Wis. 2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 899 (Knapp II). This Court will uphold the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous, and it will assess whether those findings support a determination of custody for Miranda purposes de novo. State v. Bartelt, 2018 WI 16, ¶ 25, 379 Wis. 2d 588, 906 N.W.2d 684.

Filed 07-08-2020

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. There is no basis to interpret the Wisconsin Constitution to provide expanded protections that would preserve *Armstrong*'s per se rule.

As he did before the court of appeals, Halverson concedes that *Fields* overruled the per se rule in *Armstrong*. (Halverson's Br. 11.) He insists, however, that the per se rule should survive under the Wisconsin Constitution. (*Id.*) As discussed below, he is wrong.

A. Armstrong incorrectly held, based on federal law, that incarceration is per se custody for Miranda purposes.

The Fifth Amendment the United to States Constitution and article I, section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect suspects from incriminating themselves in criminal matters. State v. Ezell, 2014 WI App 101, ¶ 8, 357 Wis. 2d 675, 855 N.W.2d 453. Accordingly, police must provide *Miranda* warnings before interrogating a person who is in custody for the purpose of that interrogation. *Id.* (citing State v. Torkelson, 2007 WI App 272, ¶ 11, 306 Wis. 2d 673, 743 N.W.2d 511). "Statements obtained via custodial interrogation without the *Miranda* warnings are inadmissible against the defendant at trial." *Id*.

"Custody," as used in the *Miranda* context, is a term of art specifying circumstances that generally "present a serious danger of coercion." *Fields*, 565 U.S. at 508–09. The focus of the custody inquiry centers on the "interrogation environment created by the police" and whether it is one "in which the authorities could take advantage of the situation." *See State v. Clappes*, 117 Wis. 2d 277, 283, 344 N.W.2d 141 (1984). To that end, it is the change from a person's normal environment to the intimidating environment of a police station, where the suspect is isolated from friends and advocates, that triggers

the need for warnings: "An individual swept from familiar surroundings into police custody, surrounded by antagonistic forces, and subjected to the techniques of persuasion described above cannot be otherwise than under compulsion to speak." *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 461 (1966).

The first step in assessing whether a person is in custody for *Miranda* purposes is to determine "whether, in light of 'the objective circumstances of the interrogation,' a 'reasonable person [would] have felt he or she was not at liberty to terminate the interrogation and leave." *Fields*, 565 U.S. at 509 (citations omitted). The objective "freedom of movement" test requires a totality-of-the-circumstances analysis weighing "the location of the questioning, its duration, statements made during the interview, the presence or absence of physical restraints during the questioning, and the release of the interviewee at the end of the questioning." *Id.* (citations omitted); *see also Bartelt*, 379 Wis. 2d 588, ¶ 32 (listing factors to include "degree of restraint; the purpose, place, and length of the interrogation; and what has been communicated by police officers").

Second, even if the "freedom of movement" inquiry is satisfied, because "[n]ot all restraints on freedom of movement amount to custody for purposes of *Miranda*," courts ask "the additional question whether the relevant environment presents the same inherently coercive pressures as the type of station house questioning at issue in *Miranda*." *Fields*, 565 U.S. at 509; *see also Bartelt*, 379 Wis. 2d 588, ¶ 33. For example, while a traffic stop involves a restraint on freedom of movement, that sort of detention "does not 'sufficiently impair [the detained person's] free exercise of his privilege against self-incrimination to require that he be warned of his constitutional rights." *Fields*, 565 U.S. at 509 (quoting *Berkemer v. McCarty*, 468 U.S. 420, 437 (1984)).

What if the suspect is already a prisoner? In 1999, this Court interpreted United States Supreme Court law to hold that inmates were categorically in custody for *Miranda* purposes. *Armstrong*, 223 Wis. 2d at 354–55. In reaching that holding, this Court relied on *Mathis v. United States*, 391 U.S. 1 (1968), and "its Wisconsin counterpart," *Schimmel*, 84 Wis. 2d 287.5 *Armstrong*, 223 Wis. 2d at 353. This Court wrote:

[A] person who is incarcerated is *per se* in custody for purposes of *Miranda*. Under *Mathis* and *Schimmel*, the reason that a person was incarcerated is irrelevant to a determination of whether he or she was in custody . . . . Indeed, we can think of no situation in which a defendant is more clearly in custody, as envisioned by the *Miranda* Court, than when the defendant is confined in a prison or jail.

Id. at 355–56.

But the *Fields* Court expressly rejected that reading of *Mathis* and related interpretation of the Fifth Amendment. The Court made clear that it had never held—in *Mathis* or any of its other precedents—that the Fifth Amendment supported a categorical rule of *Miranda* custody for prisoners. In addition, it wrote, such a categorical rule "is simply wrong." *Fields*, 565 U.S. at 508.

The Court noted that imprisonment alone was insufficient to constitute *Miranda* custody for three reasons. "First, questioning a person who is already serving a prison term does not generally involve the shock that very often

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