Filed 05-29-2020

Page 1 of 37

RECEIVED 05-29-2020 CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 2018AP858-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

BRIAN L. HALVERSON,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

On Review from a Decision of the Court of Appeals Reversing a Decision of the Chippewa County Circuit Court, the Honorable Steven R. Cray, Presiding.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER

MEGAN SANDERS-DRAZEN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1097296

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 sandersdrazenm@opd.wi.gov (608) 266-8383

Attorney for Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner

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

ARGUMENT

- I. This court should hold that incarceration necessarily produces *Miranda* custody under the Wisconsin Constitution.
 - A. Standard of review.

Whether incarceration necessarily produces *Miranda* custody under the Wisconsin Constitution is a question of law this court will decide de novo. *See State v. Williams*, 2012 WI 59, ¶10, 341 Wis. 2d 191, 814 N.W.2d 460.

B. Does incarceration necessarily produce *Miranda* custody? The *Armstrong-Fields* divide.

Half a century ago, the United States Supreme Court announced a series of "procedural safeguards," commonly called *Miranda* warnings, that must be employed in every custodial interrogation "to secure the privilege against self-incrimination." *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 444. Absent these safeguards, the Court held, all statements stemming from a custodial interrogation must be suppressed. *Id*.

Since *Miranda* was decided, courts at every level have examined and reexamined its landmark holding. A whole body of case law, for example, has worked to define the "objective circumstances" that amount to custody for *Miranda* purposes. *See Howes v. Fields*, 565 U.S. 499, 508-09 (2012). Relevant here is a subset of that case law asking a more specific question: whether the subject of police interrogation is necessarily in *Miranda* custody if he's incarcerated when the interrogation occurs. *See, e.g., id.* at 514-17.

-

Page 15 of 37

The Wisconsin Supreme Court most recently considered this issue in Armstrong. Tonnie Armstrong was interrogated about a homicide while serving an unrelated sentence in the Racine County Jail. Armstrong, 223 Wis. 2d at 335. Before police read Armstrong his rights, he made inculpatory statements. Id. at 335. He later moved to suppress them on Miranda grounds. Id. The state claimed Armstrong was not in custody for *Miranda* purposes, even though he was incarcerated, because his custodial status didn't change when his interrogation began. Id. at 353.

This court was not convinced. It said it could "think of no situation in which a defendant is more clearly in custody" under *Miranda* than when he is "confined in a prison or jail." *Id.* at 356. The illogic of holding that an incarcerated defendant can be *out* of custody during an interrogation, in conjunction with contrary decisions from the state and federal supreme courts in analogous cases,¹ led the court to announce that an incarcerated person "is *per se* in custody for purposes of *Miranda*." *Id.* at 355.

In *Fields*, the United States Supreme Court came to a different conclusion. Like Armstrong, Randall Fields was serving a jail sentence when police arrived to question him about a new crime. *Fields*, 565 U.S. at 502. Fields was not read his rights and eventually confessed. *Id.* at 503.

¹ Armstrong gave particular attention to the first United States Supreme Court case on Miranda custody of incarcerated defendants, Mathis v. United States, 391 U.S. 1 (1968), and to "its Wisconsin counterpart," Schimmel v. State, 84 Wis. 2d 287, 267 N.W.2d 271 (1978). See State v. Armstrong, 223 Wis. 2d 331, 353-56, 588 N.W.2d 606 (1999).

In assessing whether Fields was in custody, the Court declined to adopt a bright-line rule like that approved by *Armstrong*, explaining that "whether an individual's freedom of movement was curtailed" during his interrogation is merely "the first step in the analysis." *Id.* at 509. The Court held that *Miranda* custody of an inmate in a prison or jail turns on whether the circumstances surrounding the inmate's interrogation present "the same inherently coercive pressures as the type of station house questioning at issue in *Miranda*." *Id.* So, it turned to the circumstances of Fields's interrogation.

The record established that Fields was escorted from his cell to "a well-lit, average-sized conference room, where he was 'not uncomfortable." *Id.* at 515. There, he "was offered food and water, and the door . . . was sometimes left open." *Id.* Fields was questioned for over five hours, until well past his usual bedtime. *Id.* He wasn't physically restrained or threatened, but the sheriff's deputies who questioned him were armed, and one deputy used a "sharp tone." *Id.* "Most important, [Fields] was told at the outset of the interrogation, and was reminded again thereafter, that he could leave and go back to his cell whenever he wanted." *Id.*

With heavy emphasis on the fact that Fields was repeatedly told he could return to his cell at will, the Court decided his interrogation was *not* custodial. *Id.* at 517. *Fields* thus makes clear that incarceration does not necessarily produce *Miranda* custody for purposes of the Fifth Amendment; it is but one, albeit significant, factor. C. Because the federal constitution is a floor, not a ceiling, *Armstrong* need not give way to *Fields*.

Insofar as the per se rule announced in *Armstrong* is rooted in the federal constitution, *Fields* overruled it. But the question remains whether the rule survives as a means of protecting the right against compelled self-incrimination provided by article I, section 8(1) of the Wisconsin Constitution.

Wisconsin courts usually construe state constitutional provisions in conformity with their federal counterparts. See id., ¶58. Nevertheless, this court has repeatedly asserted that it "will not be bound by the minimums which are imposed by the Supreme Court of the United States if it is the judgment of this court that the Constitution of Wisconsin and the laws of this state require that greater protection . . . be afforded." Id., ¶59 (quoting State v. Doe, 78 Wis. 2d 161, 171, 254 N.W.2d 210 (1977)). Such "greater protection" has been extended even where the texts of the state and federal constitutions align. See State v. Knapp, 2005 WI 127, ¶¶62, 73, 285 Wis. 2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 899 (2005) (Knapp II). Thus, while the texts of the Fifth Amendment and its Wisconsin analog are "virtually identical,"² that "cannot be conclusive, lest this court forfeit its power to interpret its own constitution to the federal judiciary." See id., ¶62.

² The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides: "No person shall be . . . compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself." Article I, section 8(1) of the Wisconsin Constitution provides: "No person may be . . . compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself or herself."

Knapp, a case considered by this court on two occasions, illustrates this point.

The issue in Knapp I was "whether physical evidence obtained as the direct result of a Miranda violation should be suppressed when the violation was an intentional attempt to prevent the suspect from exercising his Fifth Amendment rights." State v. Knapp, 2003 WI 121, ¶1, 265 Wis. 2d 278, 666 N.W.2d 881 (Knapp I). Relying on federal precedent interpreting the Fifth Amendment, as well as "policy considerations related to deterrence and judicial integrity," the Knapp I court held that suppression was required. Id., ¶2.

The United States Supreme Court reversed that decision and sent the case back to this court for further consideration in light of United States v. Patane, 542 U.S. 630 (2004). Patane, like Knapp I, raised "the physical-evidence-as-Miranda-fruit issue." 4 Wayne R. LaFave et al., Criminal Procedure § 9.5(b) (3d ed. 2007). A majority of the Patane Court concluded that physical evidence derived from statements a defendant gave without the benefit of Miranda warnings need not be suppressed. Id.

Thus, when the case returned to the Wisconsin Supreme Court, part of its premise in *Knapp I*—that the federal constitution requires suppression of physical evidence derived from an intentional *Miranda* violation—had fallen away. *Knapp II*, 285 Wis. 2d 86, ¶1. Unchanged, however, was the "strong need for deterrence" of such violations. *Id.*, ¶74. With that need in mind, the court rejected the "lock-step theory" (under which state constitutional rights are read to match their federal equivalents) and upheld its earlier decision under the Wisconsin Constitution. *Id.*, $\P\P59$, 83.

Knapp II shows that the protections afforded by the state constitutional right against selfincrimination are not defined by the United States Supreme Court's Fifth Amendment case law; they're defined by this court, exercising its "independent judgment." Id., ¶60. "Federal jurisprudence is persuasive and helpful," but it cannot replace careful consideration of "competing principles and policies under the Wisconsin Constitution." Id.

> D. This court should construe the state constitution to require *Miranda* warnings whenever an inmate in a prison or jail is interrogated.

The principles and policies at stake when an inmate is interrogated show Miranda warnings should always be required. As Armstrong observed, confinement in a prison or jail is the clearest form of custody. Armstrong, 223 Wis. 2d at 356. The absence of freedom that characterizes (indeed, is) such "compelling confinement presents exactly the pressures" Miranda aimed to keep in check. Miranda, 384 U.S. at 467. In Fields, the United States Supreme Court took a confusing step away from its longstanding commitment to safeguarding the privilege against self-incrimination in coercive environments like a prison or jail. See generally, George M. Dery, III, The Supposed Strength of *Hopelessness:* The Supreme Court *Further* Undermines Miranda in Howes v. Fields, 40 Am. J. Crim. L. 69, 72-87 (2012). But as *Knapp II* shows,

Wisconsin need not follow suit—and as *Armstrong* shows, it shouldn't.

Miranda defined custodial interrogation as one in which "questioning [is] initiated by law enforcement officers after a person has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way." Miranda, 384 U.S. at 444 (emphasis added). Due to this open-ended language, *Miranda* custody takes countless forms: a person might be subjected to custodial interrogation at the station house (see Miranda, 384 U.S. at 457-58), at home in his bedroom (see Orozco v. Texas, 394 U.S. 324, 326-27 (1969)) or while handcuffed in the back of a squad car (State v. Morgan, 2002 WI App 124, ¶17, 254 Wis. 2d 602, 648 N.W.2d 23). But while the setting can vary, an interrogation is only custodial under Miranda if it entails the same "compulsion inherent" in "a formal arrest." See Miranda, 384 U.S. at 467; Stansbury v. California, 511 U.S. 318, 322. That—whether an interrogation is characterized by compulsion—is the heart of the matter. Miranda, 384 U.S. at 458.

When police visit a prison or jail to interrogate an inmate suspected of a crime, the "inherently compelling pressures" that produce *Miranda* custody are necessarily present. *See id.* The control exerted over every facet of an inmate's life compels this conclusion, and *Fields* offers no cogent reason to hold otherwise.

If an inmate subjected to police interrogation is free to refuse questioning and leave, he can probably only return to his cell—and even that usually requires a correctional officer's permission or escort.³ And the restrictions on an inmate's movement are just the beginning; confinement results in a far more sweeping subjugation of individual will. An inmate generally can't decide what to eat, when to go to bed, where to work, how to dress, what kind of exercise or recreation to engage in, or how frequently to talk to his family: all of that is up to the institution.⁴ Further, while an inmate lives the daily life prescribed by the institution,⁵ he must comply with its rules and follow its staff's commands.⁶ Small

³ See, e.g., Redgranite Corr. Inst., Inmate Handbook, 14 (Revised 2017), https://doc.wi.gov/Documents/OffenderInforma tion/AdultInstitutions/RGCIInmateHandbook.pdf ("Movement in the institution is authorized by a printed schedule of activities, the public address (PA) system, staff escorts or as directed by staff."); Green Bay Corr. Inst., Inmate Handbook, 48 (Revised May 2017), https://doc.wi.gov/Documents/Offender Information/AdultInstitutions/GBCIInmateHandbookEnglish .pdf ("Inmate movement within the institution is permitted only under staff escort/supervision or via the Pass System.").

⁴ The specifics vary from institution to institution. As examples, this brief cites the rules governing inmates in the Grant, Juneau, Ozaukee, and Price County Jails, as well as the rules governing state prisoners in the maximum-security Green Bay, medium-security Redgranite, and minimumsecurity Oakhill Correctional Institutions.

⁵ See, e.g., Redgranite Corr. Inst., *supra* note 3, 13 (setting forth the "Basic Institution Schedule").

⁶ See, e.g., Grant County Sheriff's Office, Inmate Rules, 1 (last visited May 25, 2020), http://www.grantcountysheriff wisconsin.com/Jail/images/Inmate_Rules.pdf ("YOU WILL OBEY ALL RULES OF THE JAIL AND THE JAILER'S INSTRUCTIONS.").

lapses in judgment—speaking too loudly,⁷ littering,⁸ using profanity,⁹ participating in "[h]orseplay,"¹⁰ even arguing about what TV show to watch¹¹—can result in withdrawal of "privileges" (like phone access¹²) or more time behind bars (if "good time" is withdrawn¹³ or "bad time" is imposed¹⁴). More serious misdeeds, like getting into a fistfight with

⁸ *Id.* ("The throwing of litter . . . is prohibited."); *see also* Oakhill Corr. Inst., Inmate Handbook, 17 (2016-18), https://doc.wi.gov/Documents/OffenderInformation/AdultInstitutions/OCIInmateHandbook.pdf (saying inmates found littering "may be subject to discipline").

⁹ Juneau County Jail, Inmate Rules & Regulations, 13 (2016), http://www.co.juneau.wi.gov/uploads/1/9/4/5/19459011/ current_jail_rules_july_2016.pdf (listing examples of minor rule violations, including "[u]se of profanity/gestures").

¹⁰ Price County Jail, *supra* note 7 ("Horseplay is prohibited.").

¹¹ Juneau County Jail, *supra* note 9, at 8 ("Any arguing about channels will be grounds for possible discipline.").

¹² See, e.g., Oakhill Corr. Inst., *supra* note 8, 9-10 (penalties for institutional rules include loss of "telephone usage"); *see also* Sheriff Jim Johnson et al., Ozaukee County Jail Inmate Rules & Information, 7-8 (Revised March 2020), https://www.co.ozaukee.wi.us/DocumentCenter/View/13484/Jail -Handbook-Master-March-2019 ("If a prisoner violates a jail rule," and "the violation is minor," he lose "privileges" like "telephone use.").

 13 See Wis. Stat. § 302.43 ("An inmate who violates any law or any regulation of the jail . . . may be deprived by the sheriff of good time under this section").

¹⁴ See Wis. Stat. § 302.11(2)(a) ("Any inmate who violates any regulation of the prison or refuses or neglects to perform required or assigned duties is subject to extension of the mandatory release date").

⁷ See, e.g., Price County Jail, Inmate Rules & Regulations (Jan. 20, 2015), https://www.pricecountywi.net/ CivicAlerts.aspx?AID= 75 ("Loud . . . behavior is prohibited.").

another inmate, can lead to a felony charge¹⁵ or a stint in solitary confinement.¹⁶ These are just some of the *official* ways confinement exerts control; every inmate knows that correctional officers' informal tactics, from selectively handing out favors to inflicting physical abuse, are at least as coercive.¹⁷ In short, an inmate's behavior is strictly limited and there are grave consequences for failing to abide by those limits—for resisting, in other words, the coercion that is incarceration's defining feature.

Miranda recognizes that police interrogation conducted in an unduly coercive setting will "undermine the individual's will to resist" incriminating himself, even when "he would not otherwise do so freely." 384 U.S. at 467. As prisons and jails are quintessentially coercive settings, layering a police interrogation on top of the baseline compulsion they impose presents a serious threat to the privilege against self-incrimination. *Miranda* set forth a set of warnings that mitigate that threat, and inmates should have a right to receive them.

 $^{^{15}}$ See Wis. Stat. § 940.20(1) ("Any prisoner . . . who intentionally causes bodily harm . . . [to] another inmate . . . is guilty of a Class H felony.").

¹⁶ See, e.g., Sheriff Jim Johnson et al., *supra* note 12, at 8 (listing "[i]solation" as a form of discipline meted out for "[m]ore serious violations" of jail rules).

¹⁷ See John Wooldredge, Prison Culture, Management, and In-Prison Violence, 3 Ann. Rev. Crimonology 165, 174, 18182 (2020); Alexander Z. Ibsen, Ruling by Favors: Prison Guards' Informal Exercise of Institutional Control, 38 L. & Soc. Inquiry 342, 343 (2013).

Filed 05-29-2020

The holding in *Fields*—that incarceration does not necessarily produce *Miranda* custody—stands starkly at odds with this analysis. Its reasoning thus warrants close examination.

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